IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

## CASE NO. 95,211

# LABRANT D. DENNIS,

# Appellant,

VS.

### THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

## APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY

# INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BENNETT H. BRUMMER Public Defender Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida 1320 N.W. 14th Street Miami, Florida 33125 (305) 545-1958

LOUIS CAMPBELL Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 833320

Counsel for Appellant

###

### **INTRODUCTION**

This is a direct appeal from judgments of conviction and sentences of death, entered following a jury trial before the Honorable Manuel A. Crespo of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit, in and for Miami-Dade County, Florida. In this brief, the clerk's record on appeal is cited as "R." and the transcript of the proceedings as "T."

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Labrant Dennis was arrested on April 30, 1996 and charged with the murders of Marlin Barnes and Timwanika Lumpkins, burglary of Barnes' apartment, and criminal mischief. He was represented *pro bono* by Ronald A. Guralnick, Esq. He was convicted after a jury trial, on October 28, 1998, and, on February 26, 1999, was sentenced to death for each of the two murders.

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

### **The Crime Scene**

On the morning of Saturday, April 13, 1996, Marlin Barnes and Timwanika Lumpkins were found lying severely beaten in Mr. Barnes' apartment at the University of Miami. Mr. Barnes was a linebacker for the University of Miami football team. (T. 3096). He shared the two-bedroom apartment with two other football players -- Earl Little and Trent Jones. (T. 3159-60, 4195).<sup>1</sup>

The crime was reported by Mr. Barnes' roommate, Earl Little. The night before, Little had loaned his Ford Explorer to Barnes, who wanted to go to a celebrity event on South Miami Beach. (T. 3170). Mr. Little told Mr. Barnes he needed the vehicle the next morning to pick up his daughter. (T. 3170). Mr. Little spent the night at a girlfriend's nearby apartment. (T. 3170). When he returned to the dormitory the next morning, some time between 7:00 and 7:30 a.m., he noticed that the Explorer was tilting to one side and that a tire had been punctured. (T. 3171-74, 3189-90). He went up to the apartment, which was on the third floor of the building. Although the front door was unlocked, he had difficulty opening it. (T. 3175). When he finally managed to push it open a bit, he saw Mr. Barnes lying on the floor, against the door. (T. 3177). The floor was covered with blood. (T. 3175). When Mr. Little called his name, Mr. Barnes responded and turned his head; he was breathing hard. (T. 3177-79). Mr. Little ran to his girlfriend's apartment, phoned the police, and then ran back to the dorm, arriving there a couple of seconds before the police. (T. 3179).

Both victims were still alive when the police arrived at 7:34 a.m. (T. 3205, 3213, 3215, 3329, 4217).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Another roommate, Ray Lewis, had recently decided to become a professional football player and had moved to a residence off campus. (T. 3097-98, 3160). Lewis remained very close friends with Barnes and stayed at the apartment off and on. (T. 3097-98, 3413).

Ms. Lumpkins was lying face down on the floor of one of the bedrooms. (T. 3212-13, 3238-39). She had been struck several times on the head with a blunt object, resulting in severe fractures of the skull. (T. 4413-22). She had also been struck on the back and on the left shoulder. (T. 4427-29). Injuries to her lips were consistent with having been face down on the floor when she was hit on the back of the head, and one of her front teeth was chipped. (T. 4426-27). There were injuries to her hands, consistent with an attempt to shield herself. (T. 4430-33). There were two large marks on the wall of the bedroom, which could have been caused by the impact of a shotgun barrel. (T. 3275, 3278, 3281). An earring was found on the floor next to the bed, and another 12 inches under the bed. (T. 3275-76). Ms. Lumpkins was taken to a trauma center, where she died after attempts at treatment failed. (T. 3244, 4460). The cause of death was blunt trauma to the head. (T. 4435).

Mr. Barnes was lying in the front of the apartment with his head against the front door. (T. 3210). He had been struck several times in the face and forehead, resulting in numerous lacerations and bruises, a broken nose, a fractured palate, the breakage and removal of several teeth, and a thin fracture to the occipital bone. (T. 4435-37, 4441, 4443). There was also a small abrasion near the left elbow, a bruise near the left wrist, and abrasions on the right hand. (T. 4444-45). He died some time after the paramedics arrived. (T. 3237, 3243-44).

The victims were fully clothed. (T. 3276, 3371). Barnes still had his boots on.

(T. 3371). However, his pants were unbuttoned and his penis was protruding through the fly of his underwear. (Exhibit 11).

It appeared that Mr. Barnes was knocked down and then struck several times as he lay on the carpeted area in the living room. (T. 4442-43, 4463-64). He then got up and moved around in the front of the apartment -- leaving blood on the dining table and chairs, a desk, and the walls -- but quickly collapsed where he was found, against the front door. (T. 4453, 4457-58, 4563). The medical examiner testified that Mr. Barnes would have bled "quite briskly" as a result of the wounds to the face, and would have been rendered incapable of standing in "a very relatively brief time." (T. 4458-59).<sup>2</sup> He bled to death as a result of the multiple head injuries. (T. 4447, 4457).

There were a few drops of blood on the threshold, from a source directly above, indicating that at some point Mr. Barnes may have been standing in the open doorway. (T. 3321, 4535-36). This was consistent with having been struck in the face while he was standing at the door, or with having tried to step outside after being struck. (T. 3321-22, 3329, 4594-95, 4605).

Although there was a large pool of blood around Mr. Barnes in the area inside the front door, no tracks were found outside. (T. 4386, 4561-62). Because of this, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>In deposition, the medical examiner testified that it would take as little as four to five minutes or "as much as 10 to 15 minutes" for the victim to bleed out, that is, until there was insufficient blood in the body to supply the vital organs, resulting in death. (R. 929-30).

because the back door was locked, the police concluded that the assailant or assailants must have left through the front door shortly before Mr. Barnes collapsed. (T. 4457, 4561-63). Detective Poitier testified that the evidence indicated that the assailant left shortly before Mr. Barnes was found by Mr. Little. (T. 3375).

The police subsequently determined that the weapon used was a broken, shortbarreled shotgun recovered two weeks later from a sewer in northern Dade county, many miles from the scene of the crime. No shots had been fired. The weapon had been used as a club. Several of the victims' injuries were consistent with having been struck by various parts of the shotgun. (T. 4415-16, 4423-29, 4435-41, 4444-45, 4464). Two fragments of the trigger guard, and several wood fragments which could have come from the shotgun's forearm were found in the apartment. (T. 3287-88, 3862, 4489-90). The two metal fragments matched the front portion of the gun's trigger guard. (T. 3856, 3863-64).

An unfired shotgun shell was found on the floor in the front of the apartment. (T. 3289, 3297, 3323). There was a slight indentation on the primer. (T. 3324, 4498). The state's expert testified that the mark could have been caused by an attempt to fire the gun, or by slamming the weapon against something, but he did not know which of these two explanations was correct. (T. 4499, 4505). It was not possible to determine whether the shell had been cycled through the gun. (T. 4498).

Two gold bracelets and a championship ring were found near Mr. Barnes. (T.

3289, 3297, 3362, 3377). He had a gold chain around his neck, and \$59 in cash in his pockets. (T. 3363-64). Several items of jewelry, an expensive-looking watch, and \$550 in cash were found in the bedroom where Ms. Lumpkins was lying. (T. 3364-65). Her purse was also found there. (T. 3365). It contained \$103 in cash, a beeper, and an address book or diary. (T. 3366).

Aside from those of the victims, the only fingerprints found were those of a student who had attended a party at the apartment a week earlier. (T. 4190-91).

#### **Club Salvation**

On the night before the homicides (April 12-13, 1996), Marlin Barnes and Timwanika Lumpkins had been at a celebrity event held at Club Salvation on South Miami Beach. They had arrived separately, and there was no evidence that either knew of the other's plans to be there. (T. 4076). Mr. Barnes drove Earl Little's Explorer to the club, accompanied by other teammates. They got there about midnight. (T. 3081, 3084, 4078). There were several hundred people at the club (up to 2,000). (T. 3015, 3132-33). Mr. Barnes went upstairs to the VIP section, where there were some 150 to 500 people. (T. 3016, 3085, 3133). There he ran into Ms. Lumpkins, whom he had known since high school. She had come with her friend Marissa Roberts. (T. 3122-23, 3126). They were together for the rest of the night and were openly affectionate. (T. 3127-28).

At about 4:00 a.m., Mr. Barnes moved the Explorer closer to the club. (T. 3087-

6

88, 4080). Later he, Ms. Lumpkins, and several other persons left the club together and walked over to the Explorer. (T. 3087-89).<sup>3</sup> Both tires on the right side had been punctured. (T. 3091). It was about 4:30 a.m. (T. 3130-31, 3134).<sup>4</sup>

Since the vehicle belonged to Earl Little, Mr. Barnes and his companions thought someone was "messing with Earl or upset with Earl." (T. 3102-3). They pushed the Explorer to a nearby Chevron station and called for a tow. (T. 3090-91).

The tow truck left the Chevron station at about 5:00 a.m., with Mr. Barnes and Ms. Lumpkins in the cab. (T. 3502-3, 4083). They arrived at the dormitory at about 5:30 a.m. (T. 4083). After dropping off the Explorer, the tow truck driver left, some time before 6:00 a.m. (T. 3506-7). Aside from a group of young people at an apartment building about 150 or 200 yards away, the driver did not see anyone around. (T. 3508). He had not noticed anyone following his truck from Miami Beach to the University of Miami. (T. 3507).

### Labrant Dennis and Timwanika Lumpkins

Labrant Dennis was twenty-four years old at the time of the crimes. He had attended college for a year, but dropped out to join a rap group (The Dogs). The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>By this time Ms. Lumpkins' ride, Marissa Roberts, had already left. (T. 3129). Ms. Lumpkins was staying with her grandmother in South Miami, not far from the University of Miami campus. (T. 4022).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Selma Wade, who left with a different group of friends, testified that she walked by the Explorer at about 4:30 a.m. and heard one of the tires hissing, but did not know then whose vehicle this was. (T. 3130-31, 3134).

group achieved some success -- a few of their songs made the charts -- before breaking up in 1994. (T. 4015, 4650-51, 4677-78). After this, Mr. Dennis worked at two golf resorts (Doral and then Grove Isle), supervising the department which "set up occasions." (T. 4682).

Mr. Labrant Dennis had been Timwanika Lumpkins' boyfriend, off and on, since 1992. (T. 4265, 4321-22). Ms. Lumpkins worked for a telephone company. (T. 3119-20). They had a young daughter (Antonesha).

Mr. Dennis also had a child by another woman, Watisha Wallace, whom he had been seeing even longer than Ms. Lumpkins. (T. 3566). Mr. Dennis supported Ms. Wallace, paying her bills and her car note, and sometimes lived with her. (T. 3567). They had a joint bank account. (T. 3568). Mr. Dennis also had more casual sexual relationships with several other women (including two of the state's witnesses ---Katina Lynn and Jennifer Jordan). (T. 4335-36).

Ms. Lumpkins also dated other men during the time she was dating Mr. Dennis. (T. 273, 280, 4137-38, 4233). She had known Marlin Barnes and Earl Little since high school. (T. 3168, 3189, 4255). Mr. Dennis had long suspected that she was having a sexual relationship with Mr. Barnes. Three or four times over the years he had asked his friend Jennifer Jordan a university basketball player, whether she had seen Mr. Barnes with a girl in a red car, whom he said was his baby's mother. (T. 3143-44, 3155). He said he wanted to know "if Marlon was fucking around with his

baby's mother." (T. 3148). In March 1996, he asked her where Marlin Barnes stayed, and who stayed with him. Ms. Jordan told him that Mr. Barnes stayed at Apartment 36C with two other football players, Ray Lewis and Earl Little. (T. 3148, 3153). Ms. Jordan never did see Ms. Lumpkins and Mr. Barnes together. (T. 3143).

Mr. Dennis and Ms. Lumpkins frequently quarreled and broke up, but would get back together again, after days or weeks of separation. (T. 4280, 4321-22). The state presented evidence (over defense objection) that on half-a-dozen occasions, Mr. Dennis had become very angry at Ms. Lumpkins, and had yelled at her. (T. 4256-78, 4318-20, 4291-99, 4309-10). On one of those occasions (in the summer of 1994), as he was moving his things out of their apartment, he threatened Ms. Lumpkins and her uncle with a pistol. (T. 4309-10). On another occasion (in October or November 1995) he had threatened to blow out the brains of a man who was waiting for Ms. Lumpkins in the parking lot of her aunt's apartment. (T. 4274). In April 1996, Ms. Lumpkins' friend Dekeisha Williams saw bruises on Ms. Lumpkins' neck. (T. 4331). None of these incidents led to an arrest. Mr. Dennis had no prior convictions.

The reason for these particular quarrels is unknown or obscure. (See Argument VI). To show the defendant's jealous character, the state also introduced the testimony of Katina Lynn and Maurice French. Ms. Lynn was a nude dancer whom Mr. Dennis had met at a club in 1994. (T. 4332, 4353). She joined his rap group and began a casual sexual relationship with him which continued until the time of his

arrest. (T. 4335, 4339, 4352). She was already involved with another man, Marlin McGhee, whom she considered her "main boyfriend" (T. 4336) and was the father of two of her four children (T. 4352). Over defense objection, Ms. Lynn testified that she had "problems" with Mr. Dennis because he was "jealous" that she continued to see Mr. McGhee. (T. 4336, 4338-39). (See Argument VII).

Mr. French managed a gym frequented by Mr. Dennis, Ms. Lumpkins, and Ms. Lynn. He gave his phone number to Ms. Lumpkins, because he wanted to set up a work-out schedule with her. (T. 3978). He testified (over objection) that Mr. Dennis called him to ask if he was dating Ms. Lumpkins. Mr. French said he was not. (T. 3984). Mr. Dennis was not yelling. The two men did not argue. (T. 3984-85).

In April 1996, Mr. Dennis, Ms. Lumpkins, and their child were staying at the home of Mr. Dennis' cousin Carolyn Williams. They had been living there for about two months, but Ms. Lumpkins would not stay there all the time. (T. 4622, 4633-34). Ms. Williams' boyfriend Jessie Pitts and her children also lived there. (T. 4019). On April 6, 1996, after another quarrel, Ms. Lumpkins moved out and went to stay at the home of her grandmother. Mr. Barnes borrowed Earl Little's Explorer to help her move. (T. 3167, 3519-21). The child remained at Ms. Williams' house. (T. 3540).

### Labrant Dennis and Keith Bell Go To the Police; Alibi Witnesses

On the day he discovered the crimes, Earl Little told the police that Ms. Lumpkins' former boyfriend was a member of a rap group called The Dogs. (T. 3186).

The university's coaching staff put out the word that the police wanted to speak to The Dogs about the homicides. (T. 4233-34). A friend of Mr. Dennis, Keith Bell, heard of this from a friend on the football team. (T. 3413, 3936, 4654). Mr. Bell was a close friend of both Mr. Dennis and Ms. Lumpkins. (T. 4649, 4652). He had been a member of The Dogs, and worked with Mr. Dennis at the Doral and Grove Isle golf resorts. (T. 4650-51, 4663-64). He also knew Marlin Barnes, through Mr. Barnes's mother, who was a security guard at the Doral. (T. 4652).

Keith Bell called Mr. Dennis and told him about the call he had received. (T. 4654-56, 4666-68). They decided to go to the police. Mr. Dennis came by to pick up Mr. Bell. He was with his little girl. (T. 4669). After dropping the child off at the house of Carolyn Williams, they went to the police station, arriving there about 3:00 p.m. (T. 4654-55).

After waiving his *Miranda* rights, Mr. Dennis was interviewed by Detective Romagni, while another detective spoke to Mr. Bell. Mr. Dennis said that he and Ms. Lumpkins had had a relationship for about five years and had a child together. They would argue over "extracurricular dating on both parts" and would sometimes get violent with each other. (T. 4019). He said that he had slapped Ms. Lumpkins once, and on one occasion she had slammed a door on one of his fingers. (T. 4020). He knew who Marlin Barnes was, and believed he lived on the University of Miami campus, but had never been to his apartment. (T. 4020). The previous week Mr. Dennis and Ms. Lumpkins had argued because Ms. Lumpkins came home after midnight. She said she had been with Mr. Barnes. (T. 4021). Mr. Barnes came to the house in a black Ford Explorer and helped Ms. Lumpkins move to the house of her grandmother. (T. 4021-22). Over the course of the following week, Mr. Dennis spoke with her on the phone and was trying to reconcile with her. (T. 4022).

On the day before the homicides (Friday, April 12, 1996), Mr. Dennis went shopping with Ms. Lumpkins and their child. (T. 4022). Ms. Lumpkins bought a black dress and a pair of black high heel shoes. (T. 4022). He dropped her off at the home of her grandmother. (T. 4022, 4023). Later that evening he called her to ask if he could leave the child at the grandmother's house the following day, because he had to work that day. (T. 4023). Ms. Lumpkins told him she was going out with a friend of hers (Marissa Roberts), and asked him to drop her off at a location where the friend could pick her up. (T. 4028). He agreed and took her to the rendezvous location. (T. 268-70, 4028-29). He did not ask where she was going, because he was trying to mend the relationship and did not want to pry. (T. 4029).

After dropping Ms. Lumpkins off, Mr. Dennis went to a bachelor party. Keith Bell was also there. (T. 4672, 4676-77). Mr. Dennis was at the party from 11:15 p.m. to 1:30 a.m. (T. 4030, 4077, 4092). He then went home, changed, and, around 2:00 a.m., went to the celebrity event at Club Salvation. (T. 4030-31). He did not know that Ms. Lumpkins or Mr. Barnes would be there. (T. 4030). He was at the club for

about an hour. (T. 4033). He did not see anyone he knew. (T. 4033). After leaving the club, he went straight home. He got home some time between 4:00 and 4:30 a.m. and stayed there until about 9:00 a.m. (T. 4199, 4202-3, 4034-35).

At about 8:30 a.m., he called the house of Ms. Lumpkins' grandmother, to see if he could drop off the child. (T. 4034). He left with the child at about 9:00 a.m. and arrived at the grandmother's house at about 10:00 a.m. (T. 4035). Ms. Lumpkins was not there. (T. 4035). He waited for her and beeped her. (T. 4035). Since it was too late to go to work, he agreed to take the grandmother to the mall. (T. 4037). At about 1:00 p.m., he was paged by Keith Bell and they spoke on the phone. (T. 4038).

Mr. Dennis consented to being fingerprinted and photographed. Detective Romagni was looking for fresh injuries because of the violence evident at the murder scene. (T. 4146). There were no injuries or marks anywhere on Mr. Dennis's body or hands. (T. 4043-46).

Mr. Dennis also consented to a search of his car (a gray Mazda). (T. 4042). There were a few items of personal clothing in the car, and a cell phone. (T. 4043-44). Detective Romagni took photographs of the car. (T. 4047).

Mr. Dennis and Mr. Bell accompanied Detectives Romagni and Garafalo to the house of Carolyn Williams, where the detectives inspected Dennis' clothing. (T. 3821, 3825, 4045-46, 4157-58). Mr. Dennis returned to the station with the detectives. He was not arrested. (T. 4047).

The same day, the detectives also interviewed the two other adults at the house, Carolyn Williams and Jessie Pitts (both of whom testified at trial). (T. 4046). Ms. Williams and Mr. Pitts generally corroborated Mr. Dennis' statement that he had been home from about 4:00 a.m. until about 9:00 a.m.

Mr. Pitts had seen Mr. Dennis getting dressed to go out at about 11:00 p.m. or midnight. (T. 3525-26). Mr. Pitts went to bed, but got up around 4:00 a.m. to fix a bottle for his child. He looked out the window and saw Mr. Dennis' Mazda parked behind his vehicle. (T. 3528-29).

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