IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LABRANT D. DENNIS,

Appellant,

vs. CASE NO. 95,211

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CURTIS M. FRENCH ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 291692

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01 THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

- 7. Katina Lynn's testimony that Dennis became jealous of her boyfriend, who also was named "Marlin," was logically connected to these murders and properly admitted. If nothing else, this testimony provides context to Dennis' comment to Lynn, a few days before the murders, asking "what was it about these Marlins that girls like." Furthermore, this testimony fails to show the commission of an extrinsic crime, and its admission was harmless even if error.
- 8. Autopsy photographs of the two victims were used by the medical examiner to explain the injuries to the victims, how those injuries were inflicted and how much force had been used. They were properly admitted even if some were gruesome.
- 9-12. The trial court's sentencing order is not defective for any reason urged. It contains a constitutionally sufficient analysis of the massive evidence presented in this case, and Dennis' alleged factual errors are no more than after-the-fact nitpicking about matters that do not undercut the court's analysis and conclusions. This was a well-planned, methodically executed set of murders, and the trial court properly found the murders to have been CCP. The extraordinary brutality of the murders also supports the trial court's HAC findings. The court properly rejected the proposed mitigator of no significant history of prior criminal activity in light Dennis' history of domestic violence, using his hands and a pistol, against not only Timwanika Lumpkins,

but also her uncle and Katina Lynn. Finally, the court did not err in giving little or no weight to the extreme mental or emotional disturbance mitigator, since no expert mental health testimony was submitted and the only evidence supporting the mitigator was that Dennis was shown to be jealous and possessive.

13. Death is not a disproportionate punishment for the planned, cold-blooded and savagely brutal murder of two people in their own home, particularly in the absence of significant mitigation.

ARGUMENT

I.

APPELLANT'S ARGUMENT THAT THE JURY SHOULD HAVE BEEN INSTRUCTED TO USE GREAT CAUTION IN RELYING ON THE TESTIMONY OF AN ACCOMPLICE (FLA. STD. JURY INSTR. (CRIM.) 2.04(b)), WAS NOT PRESERVED FOR APPEAL AND NO FUNDAMENTAL ERROR OCCURRED

Dennis argues that the trial court committed fundamental error in failing to instruct the jury that it should use great caution in relying on the testimony of a witness who was involved in the crime, citing, inter alia, Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Crim.) 2.04 (b). 13

Dennis must argue fundamental error because trial counsel failed to preserve this issue for appeal, either by objection or specific request. 14

Under our criminal rules:

No party may raise on appeal the giving or failure to give an instruction unless the party objects thereto before the jury retires to consider its verdict, stating

¹³ Standard criminal jury instruction 2.04 (b) states:

You should use great caution in relying on the testimony of a witness who claims to have helped the defendant commit a crime. This is particularly true when there is no other evidence tending to agree with what the witness says about the defendant.

However, if the testimony of such a witness convinces you beyond a reasonable doubt of the defendant's guilt, or the other evidence in the case does so, then you should find the defendant guilty.

The charge conference may be found in the transcript beginning at volume 90, page 4742 through volume 91, page 4818. The jury charge itself in volume 92, pages 4990 through 5030.

distinctly the matter to which the party objects and the grounds of the objection. Opportunity shall be given to make the objection out of the presence of the jury.

Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.390 (d). Here, trial counsel not only failed to object, as required by rule 3.390 (d) but also failed to request the accomplice instruction at issue here. Clearly, he has failed to preserve this issue for appeal.

It is well settled that, absent fundamental error, a criminal defendant may not complain about a jury instruction on appeal unless he objected, and objected on the same grounds, at trial. Sol.2d 643, 644 State v. Delva, 575 (Fla. ("Instructions, however, are subject to the contemporaneous objection rule, and, absent an objection at trial, can be raised on appeal only if fundamental error occurred."); Occhicone v. State, 570 So.2d 902, 905 (Fla. 1990) (objection to jury instruction not preserved because "Occhicone did not object again and, most importantly, did not object on the specific ground now advanced"). In addition, it is well settled that a criminal defendant cannot complain on appeal about an omission to deliver a jury instruction unless he made a specific request for such instruction at trial. Watson v. State, 533 So.2d 932 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988); Williams v. State, 346 So.2d 554 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977). Cf., Esty v. State, 642 So.2d 1074, 1080 (Fla. 1994) (defendant's objection to reasonable doubt instruction not preserved for appeal where he failed to request different instruction; "merely raising an objection to the

standard instruction is not sufficient to preserve the issue for review").

Dennis can get around his failure to preserve this issue for appeal only if he can demonstrate fundamental error. Fundamental error, however, is that which "reaches down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error."

Keen v. State, No SC88802 (Fla. September 28, 2000) (internal cites omitted). Under this "stringent standard," id., Dennis must show that the jury could not have reached a verdict of guilty if they had been instructed consistently with standard criminal jury instruction 2.04 (b).

Dennis relies on such federal cases as <u>Tillery v. U.S.</u>, 411 F.2d 644 (5th Cir. 1969) for the proposition that if "the testimony of the witness is critical and uncorroborated, failure to give the cautionary instruction [about accomplice testimony] constitutes fundamental error." Initial Brief of Appellant at 33. In <u>Tillery</u>, however, the government's only evidence connecting the crime with the defendant was the testimony of the accomplice. Furthermore, the accomplice had given materially inconsistent statements about the extent of the defendant's participation in the crime. Although noting that warning the jury about accomplice testimony was not necessary in all cases even if the accomplice testimony is the only evidence connecting the defendant to the crime, the <u>Tillery</u> court

concluded that because the accomplice's testimony not only comprised the "sum total of the evidence against the defendant," but was "extremely unreliable, if not incredible," it was plain error requiring reversal not to have given the cautionary instruction.

However, where the accomplice's testimony is corroborated, or internally consistent and credible, or both, federal courts find that the general credibility instructions are sufficient and the failure specifically to caution the jury about accomplice testimony is not reversible error. See, e.g., United States v. Robbio, 186 F.3d 37 (1st Cir. 1999) (court need not give unrequested cautionary accomplice instruction even where uncorroborated if accomplice's testimony "looks internally consistent and credible;" here, subsequent amplification by accomplice of his earlier statement was not an inconsistency plus his testimony was corroborated by, inter alia, the defendant's incriminating statements); United States v. Moore, 149 F.3d 773 (8th Cir. 1998) (failure to give requested cautionary accomplice instruction not reversible error because accomplice testimony was amply corroborated); <u>United States v.</u> Wiktor, 146 F.3d 815 (10th Cir. 1998) (failure to give cautionary accomplice instruction sua sponte not reversible error where accomplice's testimony was corroborated and court's general credibility instructions included as a factor the witness' interest in the result of the trial).

In this case, assuming, arguendo, that the instruction at issue is even pertinent, it was not essential. The standard instructions delivered in this case included all the factors set out in Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Crim) 2.04, 1-9, including whether the witness seemed to have an accurate memory, was honest and straightforward, or had an interest in how the case should be decided (90T 4779-83, 92T 5014-16). Moreover, Stewart was vigorously cross-examined by defense counsel, and his credibility was a major subject of defense counsel's closing argument. In these circumstances, it seems reasonable to conclude that the jury was given sufficient guidance in weighing Stewart's testimony.

Furthermore, notwithstanding Dennis' contention otherwise, Stewart's testimony was corroborated in many respects; furthermore, although Stewart was an important witness, the state's case did not rest solely on his testimony, nor is it accurate to say it was the only testimony connecting Dennis to the murders. Nor would Stewart have been, as Dennis contends, a "prime suspect." Initial Brief of Appellant at 31.

Unlike Dennis, Stewart simply lacked the motive, opportunity, or knowledge to murder Timwanika Lumpkins or Marlin Barnes. He did not know Lumpkins at all and knew of Barnes only because he worked with Barnes' mother and heard her talk about him. Nor is there any

 $^{^{15}}$ Defense counsel's closing argument is set out in volume 91, pp. 4883-4942.

evidence that Stewart was at the party at Club Salvation, or would have known that Barnes or Lumpkins were there, or would have known Barnes was driving a black Ford Explorer, or would have had any idea where Marlin Barnes lived. Furthermore, Stewart was with someone else at the time of the crime, and even if, as Dennis contends, we disregard that testimony, Stewart's work records corroborate his testimony that he clocked in at 6:30 a.m. that morning. Finally, although Stewart (understandably) may not have disclosed right away that he had been "cheating" on Zemoria the night of the murders, there are no affirmative inconsistencies in his testimony, and telephone records for Dennis' cloned phone corroborate Stewart's testimony about having been called at work by Dennis early Saturday morning.

Dennis, on the other hand, did have the motive, opportunity and knowledge. Plus, he made incriminating statements to others and gave inconsistent and demonstrably false statements about his activities and whereabouts before and after the murders. In fact, it may be accurate to say that all we really need to know is that Dennis had been increasingly jealous, possessive and violent as to Timwanika Lumpkins, had been suspicious of her and Marlin Barnes and had been stalking her for years. As early as 1994, Dennis was pumping Jennifer Jordan for information about Barnes and Lumpkins,

¹⁶ Thus, under Dennis's own time-line theory, Stewart could not have committed the murder. Initial Brief of Appellant at 35-36.

telling her to let him know if she ever saw Barnes with a "girl that drove a red car," and later explicitly asking her, and finding out, where Marlin Barnes lived. More than once during his relationship with Lumpkins, Dennis had ordered her either not to go out or to return home, had pointed a gun at her and others, and had threatened to kill Lumpkins, her uncle and her date. He also had given Lumpkins a black eye, had tried to strangle her, and had stalked her at her aunt's house while dressed in a black outfit with a hood over his head - the same kind of black outfit that Katina Lynn testified Dennis wore during his shows and at other times, and the same kind of black outfit that Nidia El-Djeije saw a suspicious person wearing at her gas station just across the street from where the victims' Ford Explorer was being loaded on a wrecker.

Moreover, Dennis knew that Lumpkins and Barnes were at Club Salvation. Dennis told Katina Lynn that he had taken Lumpkins to Club Salvation several hours before she was murdered, and, although he denied having gone inside the club himself while talking to Lynn, he admitted to police that he had been in the club. He also told police he had paid \$15 for his ticket, which, coincidentally, was just exactly the right price for a ticket to get into the VIP section where Barnes and Lumpkins were, hugging and kissing and being openly affectionate.

The evidence also shows that the person dressed in black watching the Explorer was driving a gray Nissan with no tag; Dennis had the keys to just such a car, belonging to Watisha Wallace who, conveniently, was out of town that weekend. Moreover, Dennis knew exactly where Wallace had left the car, because he had come over to Shakia Cooper's grandmother's house Friday evening, plus, he had called Wallace at Tracy Little's house just before they left for Daytona.

Stewart's testimony that Dennis had borrowed his shotgun and had returned it shortly after the murders is corroborated not only by the phone records showing that Dennis had called Stewart at work, but also by testimony that Dennis had come by Zemoria Wilson's apartment at 7:00 a.m., dressed in black, looking for Stewart, not knowing that Stewart had spent that night at his mother's house instead of in the apartment he shared with Wilson.¹⁷

¹⁷ Dennis argues that if he really was at Wilson's apartment at 7:00 a.m., he could not have committed the murder because he would have had to leave Barnes' apartment no later than 6:30, and Barnes would already have been dead when Earl Little arrived shortly after 7:00 a.m. He says deposition testimony by the medical examiner shows that Barnes would have died within 10-15 minutes of the assault. Initial Brief of Appellant at 35-36. However, pretermitting the propriety of his reliance on deposition testimony rather than on trial evidence, an examination of the deposition shows that the medical examiner testified that it could well have taken longer than 10-15 minutes for Barnes to bleed enough that his vital organs would no longer be supplied with blood (5R929-30). Barnes in fact was barely conscious when Little arrived and showed no signs of life when police arrived after Little had run to his girlfriend's apartment to call them and then ran back to his and Barnes' apartment. Furthermore, the actual drive time from Barnes' apartment to Wilson's apartment was never

Not only is Dennis' presence at Wilson's apartment at 7:00 a.m. inconsistent with his statement to police that he was in bed at that time, but there is really no other plausible explanation for why Dennis would have been so interested in seeing Stewart that morning than, as Stewart claimed, to dispose of the murder weapon and other incriminating items, including the black outfit. Stewart's testimony about having loaned the shotgun to Dennis is also corroborated by Katina Lynn's testimony that in the week before the murders, Dennis told her he had obtained a shotgun and needed ammunition for it, and that they had gone to a gun shop to buy that ammunition.¹⁸

Dennis also lied to police about having tried to beep Lumpkins several times throughout the day, as the saved numbers on Lumpkins' beeper show.

Finally, Dennis made incriminating statements following the murder. He told Stewart that he had only done what he had to do and had not even used his own car. He told Katina Lynn that Lynn deserved to die because she had been cheating on him.

actually measured, only estimated (86T 4196-97), and the 7:00 time for Dennis being at Wilson's apartment was an approximation, not an exact time (83T 3923). Thus, there is no merit to Dennis' argument that his presence at Wilson's apartment at approximately 7:00 a.m. proves that he was not the murderer.

¹⁸ Stewart testified that he had not given Dennis ammunition to go with the shotgun.

In short, Stewart's testimony was not uncorroborated, and it was far from being the only evidence supporting Dennis' conviction. 19

Dennis can cite no Florida case finding the failure to charge the 2.04(b) instruction sua sponte to have been reversible error. Although the issue seems not to have arisen very often, what precedent the State has found supports its contention that this issue is not fundamental error. See Archer v. State, 673 So.2d 17, 20 (1996) (in a case in which a co-defendant who was convicted and received the death penalty testified against the defendant, no fundamental error in the failure to give the 2.04(b) accomplice instruction); Boykin v. State, 257 So.2d 251 (Fla. 1971) (no fundamental error in failing to give cautionary accomplice instruction where defense counsel argued that it should not accept

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